
Board Chair 
Kristin Smith 
 

Board Members 
Debra Adams 
Lee Collins 
Aaron Hansen 
Kasey Kinsman 
Michael Mickelson 
Wendy Ranney 
David Zastrow 
 

City Manager 
Samantha Greenwood 
 

City Clerk 
Susan Bourgeois 
 

Deputy City Clerk 
Colette Gilmour 

if you have a disability that makes it difficult to attend city-sponsored functions, contact 907-424-6200 for assistance. 
full City Council agendas and packets available online at www.cityofcordova.net  

City Council Sitting as Board of Adjustment 
April 7, 2026 @ 6:00pm 
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A. Call to order 
 

B. Roll call 
 Board Chair Kristin Smith, Board members Debra Adams, Lee Collins, 

Aaron Hansen, Kasey Kinsman, Michael Mickelson, Wendy Ranney, 
and David Zastrow 

  
C. Approval of agenda…….................................................................................. (voice vote) 
 
D.  Disclosures of Conflicts of Interest 

• conflicts as defined in 3.10.010 https://library.municode.com/ak/cordova/codes/code_of_ordinances 
should be declared, then Mayor rules on whether member should be recused, Council can overrule  

 
E.  Appeal to Board of Adjustment 
1. Board Member disclosures of ex parte communications 

• ex parte should be declared here, the content of the ex parte should be explained, ex parte does not recuse a member,  
it is required that ex parte is declared and explained 

2. Hearing for appeal. Appellant-15 minutes, Variance Applicant-15 minutes,  
Planning Commission-15 minutes. 

3. Board of Adjustment deliberations: Mike Cresswell’s appeal of February 10, 2026……………….………… (page 1) 
decision of the City of Cordova Planning Commission to grant a variance to  
Don & Pamela Scutt for Lot 9, Block 6, USS 2981  

(Board deliberations will be in closed session) 
 

F. Adjournment 
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PLANNING COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING 
Tuesday February 10, 2026, AT 6:30 PM 

CORDOVA CENTER COMMUNITY ROOMS A & B 

AGENDA 

If you have a disability that makes it difficult to attend city-sponsored functions, you may contact 424-6200 for assistance. 
Full Planning Commission agendas and packets are available online at www.cityofcordova.net. 

 

 
 
  

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL

Chair Tania Harrison, Commissioners Chris Bolin, Sarah Trumblee, Mark Hall,
Kris Ranney, Gail Foode, and Sean Den Adel

3. PUBLIC HEARING
Variance Permit – Lot 9, Block 6, USS 2981 
See 02/10/2026 Regular Meeting Packet item 10b, for Memo and Application Material 

4. ADJOURNMENT

You may submit written public comments via email to planning@cityofcordova.net, mail comments to City of 
Cordova, PO Box 1210, Cordova, AK 99574, or delivered to City Hall directly. Written public comments must be 

received by 4:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting 

Chair 
Tania Harrison 
Vice Chair 
Mark Hall 
Commissioners 
Chris Bolin 
Sarah Trumblee 
Kris Ranney 
Gail Foode 
Sean Den Adel 
City Planner 
Amanda Hadley 
Coward 
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If you have a disability that makes it difficult to attend city-sponsored functions, you may contact 424-6200 for assistance. 
Full Planning Commission agendas and packets are available online at www.cityofcordova.net. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday February 10, 2026, AT 6:30 PM 

CO RDOVA CENTER COMMUNITY ROOMS A & B 

AG ENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL

Chair Tania Harrison, Vice Chair Mark Hall, Commissioners Chris Bolin, Sarah
Trumblee, Kris Ranney, Gail Foode, and Sean Den Adel

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR
5. DISCLOSURES OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS
6. CORRESPONDENCE
7. COMMUNICATIONS BY AND PETITIONS FROM VISITORS

a. Guest Speakers
b. Audience comments regarding agenda items (3 minutes per speaker)

8. PLANNER’S REPORT
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
10. NEW BUSINESS

a. Chair Election ………….………………………….….….….….….….….….….…….…....…..….…..Page 1 
b. Vice Chair Election ……………………………….….….….….…….…..….…...………....….….…..Page 3 
c. Historic Preservation Commission Nomination...….…….…..……………….……...…....….….…….Page 5 
d. Land Disposal Maps 2026 & Resolution 26-01……………………………………………………….Page 11 
e. Request for Variance...…………………………….….….….….…….…..….…...………....….….….Page 43 

11. AUDIENCE COMMENTS
12. COMMISSION COMMENTS
13. ADJOURNMENT

You may submit written public comments via email to planning@cityofcordova.net, mail comments to City of 
Cordova, PO Box 1210, Cordova, AK 99574, or delivered to City Hall directly. Written public comments must be 

received by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

Chair 
Tania Harrison 
Vice Chair 
Mark Hall 
Commissioners 
Chris Bolin 
Sarah Trumblee 
Kris Ranney 
Gail Foode 
Sean Den Adel 
City Planner 
Amanda Hadley 
Coward 
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Variance Permit – Lot 9, Block 6, South Addition to the Townsite 
Page 1 of 5 

AGENDA ITEM # 10e 
Planning Commission Special Meeting Date: 02/10/2026 

PPLLAANNNNIINNGG  CCOOMMMMIISSSSIIOONN  CCOOMMMMUUNNIICCAATTIIOONN  FFOORRMM
_______ 

FROM:  Amanda Hadley Coward, City Planner 

DATE:  Tuesday, February 10, 2026 

ITEM:  Variance Permit – Lot 9, Block 6, South Addition to the Townsite 

NEXT STEP: Decide Whether to Grant Variance Permit 
____________  

_____ INFORMATION ____   RESOLUTION 
__X__ MOTION 

_______ 

I. REQUEST OR ISSUE:
Requested Actions: Grant Variance 
Applicant: Donald & Pamela Scutt 
Parcel Number: 02-373-126
Legal Description: Lot 9, Block 6, South Addition to the Townsite
Zoning: Low Density Residence District
Lot Area: Approximately 7,124 sq. ft.

II. RECOMMENDED ACTION / NEXT STEP: Staff has provided the following motions for the
Commission to consider opening the item for discussion:

“I move to grant the variance request submitted by Donald & Pamela Scutt and to include the findings and 
conditions of the Planning Commission.” 

If the Planning Commission's assessment differs from Staff's findings, they must clearly state each criterion 
and provide findings for how each has been met or not met and how. If the commission believes that 
conditions of approval should also be included, they must clearly state conditions and explain what they 
accomplish. 
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III. FISCAL IMPACTS: Revenue would be generated from the increase in property taxes as the
addition to the existing structure would increase the property's assessed improvement value.

IV. BACKGROUND INFORMATION: On January 13, 2026, Donald & Pamela Scutt submitted
their application for a variance. Their request is to extend their garage by 14 feet towards the back of
their property (along the northwest lot line). Their current structure, a house and attached garage, is 3 feet
from the side yard lot line on the northwest side of the property. The required setback in the Low Density
Residence District from the side yard lot line is 5 feet. The existing structure is considered legal
nonconforming. They are requesting a variance to extend the garage at the same setback as the existing
structure (3 feet from the property line).

Applicants Requests & Claims 
The applicants are requesting a variance for the 14-foot portion of the proposed garage extension along the 
northwest lot line. Claiming exceptional physical circumstances/conditions due to the steep terrain on their 
property from the bluff line to the highway.  

The applicants state that the strict application of the zoning setback provisions would result in unnecessary 
hardship. If the variance is not granted, the applicants would suffer unnecessary hardship, as they would 
need to rent off-site storage.  

If the variance were granted, the applicant states that this would not result in material damage or prejudice to 
other properties nor be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, as their property line bordering 
the Cresswell/Siebenmorgen property has bushes and trees separating the properties and would not be 
visible to them six (6) months out of the year.  

The applicants also say that granting the variance is not contrary to the objectives of the comprehensive 
plan, as they are seeking to build on their own land rather than taking up a vacant lot that could be used for 
housing. 

Staff’s Assessment 
Staff cannot support this request as it does not meet the approval criteria and would be an expansion of a 
nonconforming use; the code defines this in CMC 18.52.050 (1): " No nonconforming use shall be enlarged 
or increased, nor extended to occupy a greater area of land than was occupied as of the date it became 
nonconforming.”  

Following Staff’s review of the application materials, the applicants appear to meet two (2) out of the four 
(4) variance code criteria. The approval criteria are: a. That there are exceptional physical circumstances or
conditions applicable to the property or to its intended use or development which do not apply generally to
the other properties in the same land use district, b. That the strict application of the provisions of this title
would result in practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship, c. That the granting of the variance will not
result in material damage or prejudice to other properties in the vicinity nor be detrimental to the public
health, safety or welfare, d. That the granting of the variance will not be contrary to the objectives of the
comprehensive plan. These criteria can be found in CMC 18.64.020 A (2)

While it is Staff’s assessment that the applicants' request, if granted, would not prejudice or damage the 
neighboring property nor pose a public health or safety risk (criterion C). Nor would it be contrary to the 
Comprehensive Plan (criterion D). Staff’s assessment is that complying with the 5-foot setback requirement 
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regarding an extension of the garage area would not be limited by an exceptional physical circumstance, be 
a practical difficulty, or an unnecessary hardship (criteria A & B). 

Applicable Code: 

18.64.020 - Variances. 

A. An application for a variance shall be filed in writing and verified by the owner of the property
concerned.

1. The application shall contain the following data with respect to the property and the applicant:
a. A legal description of the property involved,
b. Plot plans showing the location of all existing and proposed buildings or alterations, elevations of such
buildings or alterations, and such other data as may be required,
c. Evidence of the ability and intention of the applicant to proceed in accordance with the plans within six
months after the effective date of the variance;

2. The application shall contain a statement and adequate evidence showing the following conditions, all
four of which must exist before a variance may be granted.
a. That there are exceptional physical circumstances or conditions applicable to the property or to its
intended use or development which do not apply generally to the other properties in the same land use
district,
b. That the strict application of the provisions of this title would result in practical difficulties or
unnecessary hardship,
c. That the granting of the variance will not result in material damage or prejudice to other properties in the
vicinity nor be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare,
d. That the granting of the variance will not be contrary to the objectives of the comprehensive plan.

18.52.050 - Nonconforming uses. 

If at any time a nonconforming use is brought into conformity with this title, the use shall thereafter conform 
to all the regulations of the zoning district in which it is located. 

A nonconforming use may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful. The following provisions 
apply to nonconforming uses: 
1. No nonconforming use shall be enlarged or increased, nor extended to occupy a greater area of land than
was occupied as of the date it became nonconforming.
2. No nonconforming use shall be moved in whole or in part to any other portion of the lot that was not
occupied by the nonconforming use as of the date it became nonconforming.
3. If at any time a nonconforming use is abandoned or discontinued, the use of that lot shall thereafter
conform to the code provisions applicable in the zone in which the lot is located, and the nonconforming use
shall not thereafter be resumed or allowed to continue.

18.20 - R LOW DENSITY RESIDENCE DISTRICT 

18.20.050 - Rear yard. 
There shall be a rear yard in the R low density district of not less than twenty-five percent of the depth of the 
lot, but such yard need not exceed fifteen feet. 
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18.20.060 - Side yard. 
A. There shall be a side yard in the R low density district of not less than five feet. The minimum side yard
on the street side of a corner lot shall be ten feet.
B. The following additional requirements shall apply to two-family and three-family dwellings in the R low
density district:
In case the building is so located on the lot that the rear thereof abuts one side yard and front abuts the
other, the side yard along the rear of the building shall have a minimum width of twelve feet and the side
yard along the front of the building shall have a minimum width of eighteen feet.

Suggested Findings: 
a. That there are exceptional physical circumstances or conditions applicable to the property or to its
intended use or development which do not apply generally to the other properties in the same land use
district.

This criterion has not been met. This property does experience other exceptional physical circumstances and 
conditions that do not apply to others within the Low Density Residential District. However, the applicants 
are requesting to build in an area unaffected by the bluff side. The proposed garage extension can meet the 
5-foot setback without being affected.

b. That the strict application of the provisions of this title would result in practical difficulties or
unnecessary hardship.

The criterion has not been met. The applicants are able to meet all zoning requirements, such as side and 
rear yard setbacks, parking, height limit, and lot size. They can meet the 5-foot setback requirement and 
complete the addition to the structure without following the same nonconforming 3-foot setback they 
currently have. 

c. That the granting of the variance will not result in material damage or prejudice to other properties
in the vicinity nor be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare.

This criterion has been met. The applicants are requesting a 3-foot setback along a 14-foot section of the lot 
line to the northwest. This would affect one property owner. This property owner was notified by the City of 
the variance request. A public hearing will allow the property owner to address any concerns before the 
Planning Commission votes on the variance. The property owner would also need to have a 5-foot side-yard 
setback, and no damage, prejudice, or detriment will result from granting a variance at the requested 3-foot 
lot line along the northwest 14-foot portion of the proposed garage extension. As of the writing of this 
memo, no written objection to this variance has been received by the City.  

d. That the granting of the variance will not be contrary to the objectives of the comprehensive plan.

This criterion has been met. The 2019 Comprehensive Plan identifies limited land availability and the high 
cost of new construction. The Comprehensive Plan did not state specific support for this type of 
development. Granting the proposed variances for this lot would not be contrary to the objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

V. LEGAL ISSUES: The public or applicants may appeal the decision of the Planning Commission to
the Board of Adjustment.

VI. ALTERNATIVES: The Planning Commission can choose to grant or deny the applicant's request.
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VII. SUMMARY: The applicants have requested that the Planning Commission grant a variance to
construct an extension to a preexisting non-conforming structure on Lot 9, Block 6, South Addition to the
Townsite that currently has a 3-foot side yard setback. The setback differs from the code-allowed 5-foot
side-yard setback in the Low Density Residence District. The applicants cite the steep slope of the bluff and
renting off-site vacant land for storage when it could be used for housing, as conditions that would cause
difficulties and hardship.

VIII. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Planning Commission, if it approves the variance request,
can insert its own conditions of approval if deemed necessary.

IX. ATTACHMENTS:
A. Variance Application
B. Photos Provided by Applicants
C. Record of Survey of Lots 9 & 10 USS 2981
D. Record of Survey Lot 8, Block 6, USS 2981
E. Subject Property with Topography 2-foot Contours
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02-10-26 Planning Commission Public Hearing & Item 10e of Regular Meeting Verbatim Minutes
Page 1 of 9

February 10, 2026, Planning Commission Public Hearing & Regular Meeting Agenda item 10e: 

Chair Tania Harrison called the February 10, 2026, Planning Commission Public Hearing to order at 
6:30pm, and the City Planner took the roll – present were all seven commissioners: Tania Harrison, Mark 
Hall, Chris Bolin, Sarah Trumblee, Kris Ranney, Gail Foode, and Sean DenAdel. 

Chair Harrison: We are here for a public hearing for a variance permit for Lot 9, Block 6, USS 2981 – would 
anyone like to testify?  

Pamela Susan Scutt: We live at 204 Boardwalk Way, and we would like a variance to extend our garage 
another 12 feet toward the highway, toward the south, just because we need more storage, we are going to 
lose our storage we’ve had for more than 40 years, and we need more room to put our stuff. It is just a 12-
foot-wide garage, you can squeeze two cars in there now, but we need a little more room. We are only 3 
feet from the property line; I don’t know what year the garage was built onto the house, but the house was 
built in 1918. It is 3 feet from the property line with Cresswell’s, and we’d like to keep that line, and that’s 
why we’d like the variance. 

Chair Harrison: Thank you, anyone else? 

Don Scutt: of 204 Boardwalk Way said to move it over 2 feet is, that is adding 4 more feet of wall, 4 more 
feet of concrete, and it puts a jog in it, and I don’t even think, I put that siding up almost 30 years ago, and 
I don’t even think I could find the stuff I need to make the corners and stuff that are on there. So, it’d just 
be easier to go 12 feet out in our lot, our lot is not, I think it is 50 feet wide, but we have that embankment 
that goes down to the highway, so we are very limited, room what we can do there and that’s why we’d like 
the variance. Like my wife said, we are already there and so we’d just like to extend it and keep the lines 
the same instead of trying to break everything up. It’d just be a lot easier to make a straight line that didn’t 
jog over so like Sue said, after 40 years we’re losing our, my shop, so we think we don’t know so, that’s it. 

Chair Harrison: Thank you, any other commenters for the public hearing? 

Mike Cresswell: I’m Don’s neighbor, great neighbors, and I’m not sure at this point do I have to tell you 
guys if I either oppose it or, what I’d like the commission to do is defer a decision on this matter, as we are 
currently working with the surveyor regarding similar details surrounding our property. The original survey 
was done by someone who is still in business-ish but is not responding as of last October to any 
communications. So we had to find someone else. He's in the process of arranging a number of surveys here 
in town to reduce the cost of individual clients. So instead of coming down for one client, he's gonna wait 
for 3 or 4, internally has proposals out to 3 or 4. I spoke with him today, and he does plan to come down in 
the foreseeable future. We… I… on the merits of it, I don't have any issues, but I would like some time just 
to actually look at some additional data regarding the property after. He mentioned your name, and his name 
is Aaron Brown, he's with Vector, I believe. I don't know if it's in there. Anyway, that's who we're working 
with. And he expects to be here sometime in the next 4-6 weeks. So, I simply ask that you guys defer at this 
point until we can look at the data and have an opinion. 

Chair Harrison: Thank you, any other comments for the public hearing? 

Don Scutt: It's not our property lines where we joined, it's down on the roadway. He's trying to get 
straightened out. 
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Mike Cresswell: So… Yeah, these are issues that predate all of this by quite a long time, and I just need 
some clarity about some survey markers that are a number of people have looked at and have various 
different opinions on it. The state has an opinion, moving parts, so we've retained someone to get some 
clarity. So we know what the status is. There's some other issues that impinge on this as well that aren't 
related to the variance. But we just ask that you indulge us by deferring on this thing. 
 

Chair Harrison: Thank you, with no other comments, we will adjourn this public hearing at 6:37pm. 
 

February 10, 2026, Planning Commission Meeting, Agenda item 10e: 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay. There's no unfinished business, so we'll go ahead and start with new business, E. 
Request for variance. On page 43. And before we begin, I guess I would just like to note, hopefully 
everyone's had a chance to look at the packet. Motions are usually in the affirmative, but, this motion would 
be not to grant it, because it follows the staff recommendation. There are the four criteria we will have if 
we move forward, we have to specifically spell out how it meets those criteria. We can't just go with the 
Planner’s recommendation. Does that make sense? Right, okay, we can discuss it as we move through the 
discussion, but that's just something I wanted to point out that there are the criteria for the granting of a 
variance, those all have to be met, and we have to specifically state what those are. 
 

Commissioner Ranney: Madam Chair, I move to grant the variance request submitted by Donald and 
Pamela Scutt and to include the findings and conditions of the Planning Commission. 
 

Commissioner Bolin: Second. 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay, Commissioner Ranney would you like to speak to your motion? 
 

Commissioner Ranney: Okay, as just a general deal for, you know what we like to, what I would like to, 
approve as a variance, and what I wouldn’t like to approve. This doesn't really raise any red flags. This is 
part of an existing structure. It's, you know, following the exact same lines. It's not really encroaching on 
existing structures and is unlikely to in the future, that is my reading. I don't think that the objections raised 
really bear out in this case, because if the property lines are in question, then the variance, it's saying that it 
has to be 3 feet away from the property line, so if the property line shifts, then they'll have to come and get 
a different variance to do this build. So yeah, I don't really see how that's relevant to this specific case, as 
this case exists, I don't see any reason not to grant it. 
 

Commissioner Foode: I heard 12 feet, but I read 14 feet. 
 

Commissioner Hall: It's supposed to be 14 feet deep and 12 foot wide.  
 

Don Scutt: We originally wanted 14 feet, but we went out and measured, and I don't want to disturb that 
hillside. So we brought it back so it'd be 12 by 12 instead of 12 by 14. That would be 2 foot short. 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay, Commissioner Bolin would you like to speak to your second? 
 

Commissioner Bolin: I concur with Commissioner Ranney. I don't see it impeding the neighbor’s property, 
or any kind of health, safety issues, snow removal or anything like that. I think it's a pretty straightforward 
thing, and that’s all I have. 
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Commissioner Foode: I wondered about our big trees that are getting blown down more routinely. Are we 
considering that? Risk of building is so much that we don't have any places that won't landslide, given the 
marked changes in weather, our flooding, and our changes in weather every other day. I haven't known 
seeing a 50-mph radar wind every other day, it's but, it is, and I've noticed the trees that used to be here 
forever are getting blown over, and am I out of line?  
 

Chair Harrison: Well, I think that the request for the variance is just for the to go from 5 foot to 3 foot on 
that property line. They’re not requesting a variance for anything on the front of their property. Well, that's 
my understanding. They're not asking for that variance.  
 

Commissioner Hall: They're not asking for a variance for that, yeah. But that was my concern. One of my 
concerns is there's that slope there, and he's already started to address it by moving it back two more feet 
but it's getting real close to that slope and I don't know how far of a setback it is for a slope. 
 

City Planner Coward: There's not a setback from that slope, it would be a backyard setback that you would 
have, and he meets it. 
 

Commissioner Hall: His backyard goes out into the road down below, so he's got a lot, he's got more than 
enough room because that slope cuts into this. That was my concern. My other concern is the main reason 
for the 5 foot was to maintain 10 foot between buildings. We grant this case we'll basically lose 3 feet of 
building space because you know, if we slide it over, what?  
 

City Planner Coward: Well, they would still need to meet a 5-foot setback, and that would be the same there, 
so that they wouldn't lose any. 
 

Commissioner Hall: But there needs to be 10 feet between buildings for fire safety and so… it does impact 
the adjoining lot when we started. We start letting people move up to this lot line, there still needs to be the 
separation between buildings. 
 

City Planner Coward: I would have to double check on that for fire safety, I'm not sure.  
 

Commissioner Hall: But in reality, there's really not much there, because you can't get access from below. 
Sort of a moot point, but it's just a consideration. 
 

Chair Harrison: Any other comments? Okay, so if I guess I would just like to go back to what I was originally 
saying, Let me… we'll say again? Sure. Oh, sorry, Sarah. Uh, Commissioner Trumblee, would you like to 
speak to the motion? 
 

Commissioner Trumblee: No, I'm good, no comments at this time. Thank you. 
 

Chair Harrison: The motion on the floor is to include the findings and conditions of the Planning 
Commission. So, this would have to not be including the findings of the Planning Commission, because we 
have to specifically state how does this meet the four variance code criteria? That's correct, Amanda, right?  
 

City Planner Coward: Yeah, so staff made the findings that are currently before you. The Planning 
Commission made a motion to bring their own findings, so you would need to go through these finding 
criteria, and then, um, give your own findings  
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Chair Harrison: Then I think one of the issues brought up is under non-conforming uses, no non-conforming 
use shall be enlarged or increased nor extended to occupy a greater area of land than was occupied as of the 
day it became non-conforming. So we just need to go through this and create, generate our own findings 
for those four criteria. Does that make sense? 

Commissioner Hall: Just the first two. 

Chair Harrison: Right, because the staff, found that it met two of them, so right. If need be, we can adjourn 
and have a special meeting to create these, or look to come up with these findings, because that may not be 
something we can’t do on the fly. 

City Planner Coward: You can also make, we can have a recess, and you can look over your findings. Then 
we can come back, and then you can discuss on it. It might give you time to read through. But if you want 
to discuss it, then we need to stay in the meeting. 

Commissioner Hall: Let me just go through them real quick. The first two, at least. We concur with C and 
D, so that's really not an issue. Right. It's just  

Chair Harrison: Okay, so let's, we can just go through them, discuss them, and then we can. So, I guess, 
start with that? Yeah.  

Commissioner Hall: If there are exceptional physical conditions applicable to the property or to its intended 
use or development, which do not apply generally to the other properties in the same land use district. Staff 
says it has not been met; it doesn't have any exceptional physical circumstances condition apply to other 
low-density districts. However, applicants are requesting to build in an area unaffected by the bluff side, 
proposed garage extension can meet the 5-foot setback without. Part of this goes back to that whole area. 
That whole area was surveyed, and I don't know if the survey followed the construction, or the construction 
didn't follow the survey. You know, which came first, but that whole area's a mess. And as far as survey-
wise. I'm a former surveyor, so… (other commissioners) Oh, we know, yeah. This is an exceptional area in 
that regard, though, because the survey is so messed up in that area. There is potential that he could sell you 
two feet. In that one area, make a little jog, if he's got a surveyor coming here, that would be a real… that 
would solve any waiver needed. Um, you can… (Don Scutt from audience) It just takes money. It just takes 
money. And out of retirement income, you don't have a lot. (Mark Hall) I'm there. Can we open this up to 
the public for comment, ma'am?  

Chair Harrison: I mean, I think you can ask questions of… 

Commissioner Hall: Well, I would like the neighbor's opinion, because he's the one that's actually being 
affected by this. 

Chair Harrison: Right, that's… that would be a fair question. 

Mike Cresswell: I just want to echo your first statement that that entire area is Alice in Wonderland from a 
surveyor’s perspective. Which is why we're simply requesting it for that. Having a definitive opinion one 
way or the other, we would just like some clarity on some questions and issues. And, uh, which are 
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percolating up through the commission right now. We would simply ask that you indulge on a request to 
defer until such time as our surveyor we can get with our survey and get some clarity on what these various 
different surveys and, um, historical events mean for this question. So that's all we're asking. I appreciate 
your comments, because to say it is extremely ambiguous, is an understatement.  
 

Commissioner Hall: The next surveyor could come in and move that line without. It's not gonna be in the 
exact same spot. It's gonna be in the same spot it was, if you can find the pens at each end, but who knows 
what he's going to find, and how he's gonna adjust it.  
 

Mike Cresswell: So, 3 people from the state, and one private surveyor, and my neighbors and I have all 
gone down there, scratched our heads. What does this mean? What is this? So, uh, and as I said, the original 
survey, we're not able to reach the surveyor. He's apparently in Africa, so not sure what to do with that, 
except find someone new, and then either pay them twice as much to come here for my specific project, or 
wait until he’s got 3 or 4, which puts this in the normal range of financial feasibility to have it looked at. 
That's all the… and I… these are great neighbors; this is not about the… 
 

Pamela Scutt: The property markers, the survey markers between our two homes are there. The ones that 
are on the as-built survey that we approved. It's an interesting little street. 
 

Chair Harrison: So the… so that was A. Do you have any other questions? Criterion B that the strict 
application of the provisions of this title would result in practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship. Staff 
found that that criterion has not been met. Applicants are able to meet all zoning requirements. Such as side 
and rear setbacks, parking, height limit, and lot size. They can meet the 5-foot setback requirement and 
complete the addition to the structure without following the same non-conforming 3-foot setback they 
currently have. So I guess the Commission would need to come up with different findings for those, for A 
and B. It is also possible to defer this.  
 

Commissioner Bolin: I believe it would be, the city's definition of hardship versus a property owner's 
hardship could be two different definitions. I mean cost, time, all that, you know, can play a factor in that 
kind of deciding factors, so. 
 

Chair Harrison: And then I guess the other thing that would need to be addressed is the rule regarding non-
conforming uses. That not a non-conforming use shall not be enlarged or increased nor extended to occupy 
a greater area of land than was occupied as the date it became non-conforming because this is an extension 
of an existing structure. 
 

Commissioner Foode: I have a question, is the non-conforming part the 12 feet? 
 

Chair Harrison: The existing structure is non-conforming, and it's been grandfathered in because it was built 
before we had. 
 

Commissioner Foode: So it kind of conforms with the structure, right? 
 

Chair Harrison: But the addition is now expanding, it's expanding, then. It's… you are… by adding on to 
the structure, you are enlarging to occupy a greater area of land than was occupied at the date it became 
non-conforming. Right, the idea is that if a non-conforming structure was built prior to the code, whatever 
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gets built there has to be on that same footprint and I guess that just needs to be, we just need to address 
that, if we're gonna move forward with this. 
 

Commissioner Ranney: Uh, I have a question for the planner real quick. So, the staff found that A and B 
were not met. Yeah. But we don't actually need those to have met to pass the variance. 
 

City Planner Coward: All four have to be met to pass the variance. 
 

Commissioner Ranney: When it says, request the variance to include the findings and conditions  
 

City Planner Coward: of the Planning Commission, because normally it would say of… of the staff, yeah. 
 

Chair Harrison: So we just need to redo. So, basically, yes, we would need to redo findings A and B and 
address the non-conforming uses. I think it's specific, yeah, one is what that would be, and this is, like, this 
is from our code.  
 

Commissioner Ranney: I was under the impression that we were given a little bit more leeway on the 
decision-making basis on that regard. 
 

Chair Harrison: In terms of the code.  
 

Commissioner Ranney: In terms of the code, yeah, I thought we were given a little bit more leeway in this. 
 

Commissioner Hall: Like what other Chris said, for B, it becomes the city's definition versus the practical 
applicant definition of what a hardship is and if we want to say the city's got a solid line, and they can't 
cross it, then we'd have to deny this. But if we look at what we interpret a hardship versus what the city 
basically, that's what we have to…what the city said, but it is a hardship. We have to say, or it's… the city's 
saying it's not a hardship, and we're saying it is a hardship. 
 

Commissioner Ranney: Yeah, because my main consideration going into this is, like, does it actually 
encroach on the neighbor's property in, like, a meaningful way? Like, are they actually planning on building 
something there? Is that practical? And I did not see that it was, and…the comments as such did not mention 
that it was going to be a hardship. Therefore, I don't see any reason why they should not build there. But if 
we're having to be more…Yeah, I guess… I want to hear opinions on it. 
 

Commissioner Bolin: Madam Chair. Yes. I feel that the hardship conditions have been met with the 
comments stated by the property owner with, how to build, cost of build, etc. 
 

Chair Harrison: Yeah, I think… I think that we can… my understanding is, correct me if I'm wrong, Amanda, 
that we'd have to actually have to come up with our, statement for those criteria.  
 

City Planner Coward: Yeah, and that's, I mean, um, he did say this… this has been met, and how… how it 
has been met, so that does meet for B. 
 

Chair Harrison: So basically, we still need to address A and then address the code for the non-conforming 
use. 
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Commissioner Bolin: Mark, I think you mentioned that with A… 
 

Commissioner Hall: It's just because of the way the area I and all the survey lines are done by, I don’t know 
who did and I don’t want to retrace them. 
 

Chair Harrison: So, the exceptional visible circumstances, poorly drawn survey.  
 

Commissioner Hall: It's not that it was poorly drawn, it just wasn't followed… it didn't follow… the 
construction did not follow the surveys, or the surveys didn't follow the construction. Whichever came first. 
And it predated any real management of the area. And so, you know, we're going back and trying to fix a 
problem from 50 years ago. I don’t know if allowing this would set a precedent. 
 

Chair Harrison: There are an awful lot of places in Cordova where their surveys are a little sketchy. 
 

Commissioner Bolin: Yes. I believe condition A, have been met due to the, surveying of the area, with also, 
with the geographic of the land in that area as well as slope. 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay, so, criteria A has been met with, given the survey issues and the slope. Any 
commission comments on those findings? 
 

Commissioner Bolin: Madam Chair, I concur with, uh, conditions, C & D, as per staff. 
 

Chair Harrison: And then, the last thing to meet is non-conforming uses. How do we address that?  
 

City Planner Coward: There's nothing to meet with that, that's just, uh, applicable code. If there's any 
conditions that you want to set on approval, of the variance, you can also do that. At this time, it's before 
attachments on the end of the memo. 
 

Commissioner Hall: One thing, I guess, he's already done it, it's reduced to 12x12 versus a 12x14, so, we'll 
keep that, we'll make that a condition. I kind of want to say, hey, can we put a 60-day hold on… 
 

Chair Harrison: Nope. No. I think the thing to do there would be that we defer, you know, we can… we can 
refer back to staff or defer our decision. 
 

City Planner Coward: You can refer it back to staff, and then we have, I believe, 30 days to make findings, 
and we would have to hold a special meeting, so, that would be the other option if, either gets voted down 
tonight, or if somebody amends the motion to refer back to staff. 
 

Commissioner Hall: I'd like to give neighbors a chance. 
 

Commissioner Foode: Yeah, I kind of feel like I have a problem like this in Anchorage because of 
earthquake, changed like the as-built when my house was designed, but over the decades, the land shifted 
around me and what we ended up doing was spending extra time finding the surveyors and the people who 
did the as-built, and we handed over a number of leads finding the information for moving forward better. 
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Chair Harrison: I think it would be reasonable to a referral back to staff. Seems like the commission worked 
with the findings and is generally in favor of granting the variance, but there are some questions that remain, 
that would be… 
 

Commissioner Ranney: Yeah, I would say that this has been more complicated than I've kind of given credit 
for when I was reading through it before the meeting, and I would, like the opinion of staff on specifically 
our interpretations, and as well as a chance to read it over more thoroughly. 
 

City Planner Coward: I just want to point out also that findings are needed if somebody's going to appeal 
the decision of the Planning Commission, so your findings are to be able to, like, kind of set this in stone, 
of your… of your reasoning why. So, if anybody has, more questions, or anything, I can kind of write those 
questions down and then, either if you want to approve this variance tonight with the findings and conditions 
that you, stated you can, vote on this motion, or you can amend the motion and refer back to staff, and I can 
work on what you've stated, and then bring it back in a special meeting but we do have 30 days to make 
this decision, and get the applicants a decision. 
 

Commissioner DenAdel: Would that give the neighbors 30 days to potentially, you know, consult with the 
surveyor?  
 

City Planner Coward: We would have 30 days to have this completed. There's not, it would probably need 
to come before the 30 days is up, so when we can hold a special meeting, we'd have to be in here doing that.  
 

Commissioner Hall: And I don't think there's any way they're going to get a survey here in 30 days.  
 

Commissioner DenAdel: We do have one, yeah. Drew Lindow. Certified State Surveyor. 
 

Mike Cresswell: I have spoken with Mr. Lindow, and he pretty much said Alice in Wonderland, good luck. 
I did not leave last stone unturned, and the opinion I got from the newest surveyor in Cordova was that's 
hilarious I'm not doing that. 
 

City Planner Coward: Sorry, I misspoke. I believe the chair’s job would be to put the findings together and 
then bring them back in front of the commission. 
 

Commissioner Hall: Do we want to just go with what we're doing? Approve it or do we want it we're gonna 
have more. Big question is, do you have enough information for our findings, or do we need to say more? 
 

City Planner Coward: I have them written out. Yeah, I have enough information for your findings, you've 
stated each one of the findings and the… and also the condition that you want. So I do have these notes, 
and we can vote however you'd like. 
 

Chair Harrison: I think I'm still concerned about, you know, it's not like we're at a request for variance to 
build a structure closer to a lot line than set by the code is one thing, but I guess we just… we have this very 
specific statement in our code, and I'm not sure… I think that's what makes me most uncomfortable, is that 
we specifically have a rule against this, and I don't…we can grant variances for new buildings to be closer 
than the code states, but I guess I'm not sure how we…are we just ignoring this section of the code? I feel 
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like that should be… I mean, I guess you say we don't have to address it, but this could easily come up 
again and we are setting a bit of a precedent.  
 

Commissioner Hall: We're giving a variance to that. That's what this really is. That's correct? 
 

Chair Harrison: A variance to that rule? 
 

Commissioner Hall: Correct. That's what we're doing with this.  
 

City Planner Coward: You would be taking the variance code, and then applying that, it wouldn't be… you 
wouldn't be really addressing the non-conforming uses. You'd be addressing the variance from now.  
 

Chair Harrison: Right, and as I say, I can understand doing this for, you know, a new structure that isn't a 
non-conforming use, but we currently have a non-conforming structure that we are now adding on to. It's a 
technicality, but the fact that we have it in the code is what… you know, if we didn't have that sentence, this 
wouldn't be a big deal. 
 

Commissioner Hall: We'll go for the variance. That's what the variance is for.  
 

Chair Harrison: Well, the variance is for the setback, because we say we want 5 feet from the lot line, that's 
what the variance is for, to my understanding. That's what the variance is for, it's for constructing within 
that 5-foot setback. Because we wouldn't… I mean, on a new structure, we wouldn't allow… we'd need a 
variance to build within that 5-foot setback as well. 
 

Commissioner Bolin: I don't think that we're setting precedent. I think that town is so messed up with 
surveys, different buildings on lot lines, across lot lines, that the precedent's already been set. I think we're 
here just to kind of mitigate that for the future, but for the applicant instead of just as a whole.  If there were 
other extenuating circumstances where, you know, it was like a life and health safety thing, like if there was 
a snow removal thing, or a fire escape thing I could see something that we, I would not do that with, but I 
just don't see that on this one. I think the city stands to gain some tax revenue from it. I don't see it being a 
loss in any way, very honestly. 
 

Chair Harrison: Any other comments? The motion on the floor right now is to include findings and planning 
commission conditions and we clearly stated each criterion. Okay, is there any further discussion on those 
findings, have we stated them clearly? 
 

City Planner Coward: Yeah, they're clear. 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay, any further discussion? And this is to move ahead to approve the variance? Okay, 
hearing none, all those in favor? Bolin, Ranney, Hall, Trumblee, Foode, DenAdel all voted yes. Harrison 
voted no. Motion passes 6-1. 
 

Chair Harrison: Okay. So, the variance passes… 
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